RECEIVED

04-12-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2015AP001610-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GINGER M. BREITZMAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Rebecca F. Dallet, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

Office of the State Public Defender 17 S. Fairchild Street, 3rd Floor Madison, WI 53703 (608) 267-1773 jurssh@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the free speech protections of both the U.S. and Wisconsin Constitutions prohibit the State from prosecuting and convicting Ms. Breitzman for disorderly conduct for calling her son rude names inside the privacy of their family home?

Ms. Breitzman argued post-conviction that she was denied the effective assistance of counsel as her attorney failed to move to dismiss the disorderly conduct charge on free speech grounds. The circuit court denied her post-conviction claim, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision.

II. Was Ms. Breitzman denied the effective assistance of counsel when her attorney (a) failed to move to dismiss the disorderly conduct charge on free speech grounds, (b) failed to object to the admission of a barrage of improper other acts evidence which painted her as an all-around bad mother, and (c) argued a theory of defense in opening that contradicted her anticipated testimony?

Ms. Breitzman argued post-conviction that she was denied the effective assistance of counsel. The circuit court denied her claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Court of Appeals deferred to the circuit court's legal conclusions.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's decision to accept review reflects that oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

A. The Complaint and Charges

The State originally charged Ms. Breitzman with two counts—one of physical abuse of a child for slapping her teenage son (J.K.) and one of child neglect for failing to take him to the doctor when he was vomiting. (2). The eight-page complaint listed many additional allegations of Ms. Breitzman being a bad mother—including calling her son inappropriate names, pulling his hair, failing to take him to a dentist, and not getting him new glasses. (2).

The State filed an amended information adding three additional charges, including one count of disorderly conduct for "profane conduct" "in a private place", for calling her teenage son rude names inside their home. (17; *see also* 71:49-53).¹

¹ Ms. Breitzman thus faced five counts at trial: (1) Physical Abuse of a Child, Intentional Causation of Bodily Harm (Wis. Stat. § 948.03(2)(b)) (for slapping J.K. resulting in a bloody nose); (2) Physical Abuse of a Child, Intentional Causation of Bodily Harm (Wis. Stat. § 948.03(2)(b)) (for backhanding J.K. resulting in a bruise); (3) Child Neglect, Resulting in Bodily Harm (Wis. Stat. § 948.21(1)(b)) (for failing to seek medical care for J.K. on November 18, 2012"); (4) Child Neglect (Wis. Stat. § 948.21(1)(a)) (for locking J.K. out of the house during the winter of 2011-2012); and (5) Disorderly Conduct (Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1)). (17).

B. The Trial

In opening, defense counsel explained that the defense would focus on "the question of reasonable parental discipline." (71:24-25).

J.K. was between fourteen and fifteen years old when the charges allegedly occurred. (71:28;17)(noting date of birth and dates of alleged offenses). As to the two counts of alleged physical abuse, J.K. testified that his mother hit him in the face on both occasions. On the first occasion, she wanted him to get out of bed but he wanted to nap; she slapped him, and he got a bloody nose. (71:38-39). He acknowledged, though, that he had regular nose bleeds. (71:87).

On the other occasion, he testified that he was sweeping the floor; his mother told him he was not doing it correctly and hit him with the back of her fisted hand. (71:40-42). He acknowledged that he told his mother's friend that same evening that the bruise on his face was the result of him dropping a dumbbell on his face, but nevertheless told his friend and girlfriend that his mother hit him. (71:78-82,43).

As to the two child neglect charges, J.K. stated that at one point he became sick and was vomiting and had diarrhea; his mother did not take him to the doctor, and he was sick for six to seven days. (71:45-48).

He stated that on another occasion, he left for school and did not take a jacket because it was warm outside. (71:31-34). When he got home, it was colder; the house was locked and he did not have a key; he testified that he could tell his mother was home but she did not answer the door. (71:34-36). He stated that he tried calling friends but no one answered. (71:34-36;84-85). He acknowledged that there

were businesses within a few blocks to which he could have walked, but he instead hid under a grill cover for a few hours until his mother opened the door. (71:34-36;85).

As to the disorderly conduct charge, J.K. stated that he got into an argument with his mother over burnt popcorn. (71:49). He stated that his mother called him a "retard," "fuck face" and "piece of shit." (71:49). She accused him of hoarding food and called him worthless. (71:49-50). J.K. testified that his mother at one point told him to grab his things because she was going to call the police, but he told her not to do so. (71:48-52). J.K. testified that during this argument, he had his friend on the phone, but had put his phone in his pocket because he did not want his mother to see him on the phone. (71:49). J.K. stated that after this exchange with his mother, he ran downstairs and talked with his friend about discussing his mother's behavior with police. (71:49).

J.K.'s friend testified that he overheard through the phone Ms. Breitzman use curse words and call J.K. "really mean names." (72:22). He testified that Ms. Breitzman seemed upset about a "couple of things" and J.K. just "listened" and "didn't really argue back". (72:22). J.K.'s friend said that it lasted about "five to ten minutes" and then J.K. and his mother argued about J.K. not changing his sheets; J.K. told his friend he would change his sheets and call him back; J.K. called back about an hour later and cried about his mother. (72:23). J.K.'s friend acknowledged that this appeared to be a "limited situation between the two of them [J.K. and his mother]." (72:24).

J.K. and other State's witnesses testified to additional allegations of Ms. Breitzman's mistreatment of her son beyond the charged offenses. A few examples: that she refused to buy him glasses after he lost a previous pair, that she failed to fill out the proper paperwork for him to get free

lunches at school, and that she put a lock on the refrigerator to prevent him from overeating. (71:38,57,58;72:9-16;72:20-21).

Defense counsel did not object to the admission of any of this testimony. *See* (71:38,57,58;72:9-16;72:20-21).

Additionally, defense counsel at one point asked J.K. whether he had a problem with frequent nose bleeds. (71:87). J.K. answered: "From what it appears. But this was after the incident when she hit me in the car and my nose was bleeding on me." (71:87). This answer referenced a third alleged slapping incident which was not charged, but was referenced in the complaint. (71:87-88).

Counsel did not object to J.K.'s answer, but instead asked him follow-up questions. (78:87-88). On re-direct, the State asked J.K. to tell the jury about this third incident. (71:91-93). J.K. noted that his mother slapped him, causing a nose bleed, over a disagreement about who taught him a song. (71:91-93).

A detective testified that Ms. Breitzman admitted to calling her son names and to backhanding her son in the car over a song. (72:34-35). The detective stated that Ms. Breitzman acknowledged that she "backhands and slaps," as well as doing "sporadic" "hair pulling," but "did not make any specific mention on any certain incidents." (72:35).

Ms. Breitzman testified that she did not hit her son on either of the two charged occasions. (72:75-93). She, and other defense witnesses, testified that her son had become more defiant and had been acting out. (72:75-76,62-65,49). She acknowledged that she did hit her son with the back of

her hand in the car (the third, uncharged incident) because he was "getting loud" with her, but that this was the only time she slapped or backhanded him. (72:80-85,101).

With regard to the allegation involving her son vomiting, she testified that she told him to eat crackers and drink Gatorade, juice and water; she further stated that the illness did not persist for days. (72:96).

With regard to J.K. hiding under the grill cover, she explained that she was asleep, and was not aware that her son was outside until she woke up and heard the doorbell. (72:72-73). She noted that he has friends within a few blocks and other people who he can call should he get locked out. (72:74-75). She stated that on this occasion he said he did not call those people because his phone died. (72:75).

With regard to the allegations that she called her son names one day in their home (the disorderly conduct charge), she did not deny being "belligerent" with her son. (73:29).

She acknowledged that she did have a lock on the refrigerator many years ago, but that served as a deterrent for him to "make him think" before eating odd foods; further, he knew the code. (72:108-109). She testified that she did fill out the paperwork for free lunch for J.K., but was told that she had done so incorrectly. She asked J.K. to get another form but he did not. (72:107-108). She said she could have driven to the school to complete the form, but wanted her son to be responsible. (72:108). She also noted that there were always "things at [her] house he could have prepared and taken to school." (72:108). She further testified that she purchased pairs of glasses for her son; however, he would not keep them on. (72: 94-95).

Defense counsel moved for an instruction on reasonable parental discipline. (72:110-14;74:3-20).² The State objected, noting that Ms. Breitzman was not asserting parental discipline with regard to either of the charged abuse counts. (72:110-14). With regard to third, uncharged alleged slapping, the State noted: "the State never went there with regards to this other act until the defense opened the door. When he opened the door, I kicked it in and I went there, but it was not the State's intent to even go into that particular issue until the defense introduced testimony about that particular act." (73:6). The circuit court agreed that the "very first time this came up was through defense questioning", and "the amended information is very clear that this act was not part of it." (73:7).

The court noted that the situation was "awkward," that it "usually deal[s] with this ahead of time" but it "came in through the defense." (73:68). The court stated: "[h]ad the defense moved me to exclude it, I would have considered doing so or heard some or do [sic] an analysis about other acts." (73:7). Defense counsel explained that it was his "feeling at the time it was in the criminal complaint from the start. It's part of the whole context of the case." (73:11).

The court agreed to read an instruction explaining that the jury should only consider the car slapping "on the issues of intent and context or background". (73:88-89). This instruction included an explanation that, as to striking J.K. "in the car, discipline of the child is an issue. The law allows a person responsible for the child's welfare to use reasonable force to discipline that child." (73:88-89).

² Record index item 74 is the transcript of the May 22, 2013, afternoon session. The transcript itself is incorrectly labeled as "morning session."

In rebuttal during closing arguments, the State explained that it did not charge the "car incident" because it did not know where it occurred. (74:36). The State also emphasized that the defense argument had changed since its opening statement—from a question of reasonable discipline to now that "she didn't do it." (74:33).

The jury found Ms. Breitzman guilty on all counts. (75).

C. Post-Conviction Litigation

Ms. Breitzman filed a post-conviction motion seeking judgments of acquittal on the child neglect and disorderly conduct counts on grounds of insufficient evidence; further, with regard to the disorderly conduct charge, she sought a judgment of acquittal on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to argue that the charge violated her constitutional free speech protections. (53).

She moved for a new trial on any remaining counts on grounds that she was denied the effective assistance of counsel as her attorney opened the door to the admission of prejudicial other acts evidence, and asserted a defense which was inconsistent with Ms. Breitzman's testimony.(53).³

Following court-ordered briefing, (54,59,60), the court held a *Machner*⁴ hearing. (77;App.158-216).

³ In her post-conviction motion, she also argued that trial counsel failed to object to the admission of hearsay; however, she withdrew this argument in her post-conviction reply. (53;60). The court granted her request to vacate the DNA surcharge. (53;62;63;App.122-124).

⁴ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

At the hearing, trial counsel testified that he "contemplated" a First Amendment challenge to the disorderly conduct charge, but did not raise it because he decided it would "not be appropriate". (77:6-7;App.163-164). He stated that he did not think it would be appropriate "based on [his] experience with disorderly conduct and the broad parameters in which normally something like that would be seen as inappropriate because it was too shallow and there wasn't enough guts to it." (77:6-7;App.163-164).

At the *Machner* hearing, the State asked trial counsel, and trial counsel confirmed, that as part of the disorderly conduct charge, the State further alleged that Ms. Breitzman also said she would kick her son out of the house; however, counsel explained that a "comment like that" would "not be something that she necessarily ever followed through on" but would use to try "to shake some sense when he would be getting dramatic." (77:22,32;App.179,189). At trial, the State never presented any evidence reflecting that Ms. Breitzman ever attempted to actually throw her son out of the house during this incident. (*See generally* 71;72). Further, the State charged Ms. Breitzman with disorderly conduct for her allegedly *profane* conduct, and the jury was so instructed. (17;73:83).

Counsel further stated at the *Machner* hearing that he questioned J.K. about the uncharged slapping "because it wouldn't make sense later if we provided that as a defense, but we had objected to its introduction." (77:20;App.177). He noted that he discussed this strategy with Ms. Breitzman and she agreed to it. (77:20-21;App.177-178). He believed this uncharged allegation was important to discuss because "if you don't show that there was a clear time where the mother did something to the child to make him become specifically angry at her...there would not be a full-enough context for

the jury to consider what it was that was going on here." (77:29;App.186). He noted that Ms. Breitzman believed that this uncharged incident was one of the motivating factors for her son to fabricate the other accusations. (77:30;App.187).

Trial counsel also acknowledged that Ms. Breitzman told him she wished to testify at trial. (77:8;App.165). Counsel stated that Ms. Breitzman told him prior to trial that: "[t]he only time she recalled slapping [her son] was the incident in the car," and that "it was possible that she may have slapped him at times in the past," but "those times," (referencing the two charged allegations of abuse) "did not occur." (77:9;App.166). Counsel later noted that he could not recall whether Ms. Breitzman categorically denied striking her child during the instances charged. (77:26,34;App.183, 191).

Counsel acknowledged that the complaint contained allegations about Ms. Breitzman's treatment of her son beyond the charges. (77:11;App.168). The State stipulated that the uncharged slapping was referenced in the complaint. (77:12;App.169). When asked why he did not object when the State presented evidence about these other, uncharged allegations of her as a bad mother, counsel responded:

The plan for the defense is that we believe the son's story, or expression of these things, would go to such an extended or aggravated or aggrandized extent that he would lose credibility, and then she would take the stand and show what really happened, that she cared for her son, that these were difficult times of rebellion.

(77:15-16;App.172-173). He noted that he thought it best not to "sit there and make lots of objections on things that would be overruled" and instead wanted to "let the jury see what is the other side here." (77:16;App.173). Counsel elaborated:

"They're obviously letting them talk about this stuff. Let's see what happens when the mother gets up there." (77:16; App.173).

Trial counsel stated that he requested the reasonable parental discipline instruction because it was the "only major defense position" he believed they could take. (77:24; App.181). He noted that Ms. Breitzman agreed with this strategy. (77:24; App.181).

Ms. Breitzman testified at the post-conviction hearing that she talked with her attorney prior to trial, and told him that the two charges of abuse did not happen. (77:40-41; App.197-198). She testified that her attorney never told her that he planned to bring up the uncharged allegation of slapping at trial, and that she never told him she wanted him to bring this up. (77:41; App.198).

Ms. Breitzman testified that part of the strategy was to show the jury that her son was rebellious, but explained that she was never asserting physical discipline with regard to the abuse charges. (77:47,51;App.204,208). She acknowledged that she would have to "explain away" the fact that she had slapped him in the past. (77:50;App.207). She recognized that she did not object when her attorney asked for the parental-discipline instruction, but explained that she did not understand until recently that "his defense of me that was reasonable discipline basically meant that I was incriminating myself and that I had done those things when I hadn't." (77:48;App.205).

The circuit court granted Ms. Breitzman's motion for a judgment of acquittal on Count 3 (neglecting a child resulting in bodily harm for not taking him to the doctor) on grounds of insufficient evidence. (62;63;80:3-7;App.122-124,127-

131). It denied Ms. Breitzman's remaining motions for acquittal and for a new trial on any remaining counts. (62;80:7-32;App.122-123,131-155).

The circuit court also rejected Ms. Breitzman's claim that she was denied the effective assistance of counsel when counsel failed to challenge the disorderly conduct charge on First Amendment grounds. (80:11-16;App.135-140). The court noted that it "would agree" that her statements were not a true threat, but nevertheless concluded that, under *Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire*, 315 U.S. 568 (1942), there was "nothing valuable about the words that Ms. Breitzman used." (80:14-16;App.138-140).

The circuit court also denied Ms. Breitzman's claim that she was denied the effective assistance of counsel when counsel failed to move to preclude admission of prejudicial other acts evidence. (80:16-24;App.140-148). The court concluded that all of the other acts at issue "fit within" the "framework" of the defense strategy, to use this "essentially to challenge J.K.'s credibility." (80:18-19;App.142-143). The court noted that it did not believe Ms. Breitzman's testimony "that this wasn't the strategy." (80:20;App.144).

The circuit court concluded that counsel's reference to reasonable parental discipline in opening was "very vague" (80:25-27;App.149-151). Additionally, "in terms of parental discipline, [counsel] testified that Ms. Breitzman didn't deny having used it; therefore, he wanted to incorporate it to show that there were times that it was appropriate. But those times didn't necessarily apply to these specific times, but that the child had exaggerated or confused or mushed them all together." (80:28;App.152). The circuit court concluded that counsel's position was not "ineffective in any way." (80:29; App.153).

D. Court of Appeals Decision

Ms. Breitzman appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's rulings. (Ct. App. Op.;App.101-113).

The following is the Court of Appeals' entire consideration of Ms. Breitzman's free speech challenge:

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