RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-26-2017

IN SUPREME COUR CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2015AP1610-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GINGER M. BREITZMAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE REBECCA F. DALLET, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

MAURA F.J. WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

This case merits oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Breitzman's trial.

The State tried Breitzman for five crimes including: two counts of physical abuse of a child—intentionally causing bodily harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.03(2)(b); child neglect resulting in bodily harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.21(1)(b); child neglect, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 938.21(1)(a); and disorderly conduct, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01. (R.17; 71:9-10.) J.K., Breitzman's teenage son, was the victim. (R.71:28-29.) To prove the charges, the State relied primarily on his testimony.

Physical abuse of a child (nosebleed incident). Sometime between June and December 2012, J.K. was lying on his bed when Breitzman entered his bedroom. Breitzman angrily ordered J.K. to get up. (R.71:38.) When J.K. told Breitzman that he wanted to take a nap, Breitzman punched him in the nose. J.K.'s nose bled for at least three minutes and he felt pain for at least 40 minutes. (R.71:39.) J.K. also cried. (R.71:40.) Breitzman called J.K. a "retard" and "fuck face" during this incident. (R.71:43.)

Breitzman testified that J.K. noticed blood on his mattress when he woke up and turned on the light. She denied hitting him that night. (R.72:78.) J.K. acknowledged that he sometimes got bloody noses. (R.71:86.)

Physical abuse of a child (bruise on the face incident). Between June and December 2012, J.K. was sweeping the floor while watching his three-year-old sister. Breitzman wanted J.K. to sweep the floor quickly while his sister ran around and threw things on the floor. J.K. was attempting to occupy her when Breitzman arrived and told J.K. that he was not sweeping correctly or fast enough. (R.71:40.) When J.K. said he had to turn on the television for his sister, Breitzman grabbed the broom from J.K. Anticipating that Breitzman was going to "smack or punch" him in the face, J.K. placed his hands in the air with his palms facing his face. (R.71:41.) Breitzman then struck J.K. on the left side of his face with a clenched fist. (R.71:41-42.) J.K.'s face was bruised. (R.71:42.) During this incident, Breitzman called J.K. a "piece of shit," told him he "never do[es] anything right," and said he acted like "the dog of the house." (R.71:44.)

In her testimony, Breitzman claimed that J.K. was not doing his chores and was "sass mouthing" her. (R.72:79.) She described J.K.'s sweeping as "half-ass[ed]." (R.73:33.) Breitzman admitted taking the broom from J.K., but denied slapping him. (R. 72:80.)

Later that evening, J.K. told Breitzman's friend, Daniel Percifield, that he bruised his face with a dumbbell. J.K. explained that he lied because he did not want Breitzman to get mad at him. (R.71:78.) Breitzman testified that she recalled seeing a bruise on J.K.'s cheekbone, which he told her was caused by a dumbbell. (R. 72:92.)

Child neglect (failing to provide medical care). In November 2012, J.K. was vomiting and had diarrhea. He noticed blood in the vomit and stool. J.K. remained ill for six to seven days. (R.71:45.) J.K. had never been that sick before and asked Breitzman to take him to the doctor. J.K. told her about the blood. Breitzman told him that since his father was not paying for health insurance, she would not take J.K. to the doctor. (R.71:46.) J.K. shared his experience with his Facebook friends who told him how to take care of himself. (R.71:47.)

In her testimony, Breitzman denied that J.K.'s condition persisted for days. She claimed that bland food was available for J.K. to eat. When J.K. told her that he was "puking up blood," Breitzman believed that it was from his drinking fruit punch Gatorade. (R.72:96.)

Child neglect (failing to provide shelter). One day in the winter of 2012, J.K. arrived home from school at 3:30 p.m. The door was locked. J.K. knocked multiple times on the front and back doors and rang the doorbell. No one answered. (R.71:31.) J.K. knocked and rang the doorbell over a four-hour period. (R.71:32.) J.K. also knocked on an upstairs back porch door located on the floor where Breitzman sleeps. (R.71:33.) Again, no answer. J.K. used his cell phone to try to call Breitzman, but the battery drained after two hours. J.K. knocked on a neighbor's door, but no one was home. (R.71:34-35.) J.K. called a friend to see if he could go to his house. (R.71:35.)

J.K. acknowledged that he did not have a coat. He explained that it was 50 degrees when he went to school, but in the 30s when he got home. (R.71:34, 84.) To stay warm, J.K. wrapped himself in a grill cover, shielding himself from the elements for two to three hours. (R.71:34.) Still, his body shivered from the cold. To warm his hands and face, J.K. blew breath into his hands and placed his hands on his face in an attempt to keep warm. (R.71:36.) J.K. checked the door every fifteen minutes to see if someone would answer. (R.71:36.) At approximately 8:30 p.m., a light came on and Breitzman opened the door. (R.71:37.) Breitzman told J.K. that she had been asleep. (R.71:37; 72:73.)

Breitzman testified that she knew what time J.K. returned from school and acknowledged that it was her responsibility to make sure that J.K. could get into the house. (R.73:39.) But Breitzman locked the door to her residence that day, declined to give J.K. a key, and would not set an alarm to wake up and let J.K. in after school. (R.73:41-42.)

Disorderly conduct. On December 4, 2012, J.K. prepared in the microwave a bag of popcorn that a West Allis police officer gave him. (R.71:49; 73:57.) J.K. burned the popcorn and threw it away. When his mother came home approximately thirty minutes later, she looked in the garbage, saw the burnt popcorn, and smelled it in the microwave. (R.71:49.)

J.K. testified that Breitzman told him that he "always mess[es] things up," that he was a "retard," a "fuck face," and a "piece of shit." (R.71:49.) J.K. told Breitzman that he got the popcorn from a friend at school. She responded that it was not from school and that J.K. was hoarding food. (R.71:49.) Breitzman told him that she was calling the police and directed J.K. to gather his belongings because she intended to kick him out of her house. (R.71:51.) J.K. stated that he felt "worthless," when Breitzman called him a "piece of shit" and "fuck face." (R.71:50.) When J.K. told Breitzman to stop calling him names, Breitzman replied, "I don't give a fuck." (R.71:50.)

When Breitzman first came home, J.K. was on the phone with his friend, D.M. (R.71:49.) D.M. stated that J.K. seemed a "little bit scared" and sounded "a little bit different" after Breitzman's arrival. (R.72:21.) D.M. heard Breitzman call J.K. "really mean names" and said "fuck a lot." (R.72:22.) D.M. stated that Breitzman yelled at J.K., who was not "yelling back at her." (*Id.*) When J.K. told Breitzman that he got the popcorn from a friend at school, she called him a liar and accused him of stealing his sister's money. (*Id.*)

The call terminated, but J.K. called D.M. back crying ten minutes later. (R.71:51.) D.M. stated "I've never heard him cry before. He was always just a normal teenager, and it was just really different." (R.72:23.) On December 5, 2012, J.K. told additional people what had happened at his house the day before. (R.71:48.)

Breitzman testified that she called J.K. a "piece of shit" and a "fuck face," but insisted that she only used the latter term one time. (R.72:98.) Percifield testified that he had heard Breitzman call J.K. a "fuck face" more than a couple of times as well as a "piece of shit," a "pig," "retard," "useless," and "worthless." (R.73:55.) Breitzman acknowledged it was inappropriate to call someone a "fuck face" when one is angry or disappointed with another's conduct. (R.72:100.)

Other incidents. J.K. testified about other incidents. In November 2012, Breitzman yelled at J.K., calling him a "dog" after he ate her boyfriend's leftovers. (R.71:54.) J.K. text messaged Breitzman. He explained to her that the leftovers were getting old and asked her to stop calling him names. (R.71:55.)

J.K. also explained that he did not get free lunches through school because Breitzman did not fill out the necessary forms. (R.71:57.) Because Breitzman believed that J.K. overate, she placed a lock on the refrigerator. (R.71:58.) Breitzman claimed that J.K. refused to eat breakfast. (R.72:85.)

On cross-examination, J.K. described another incident that resulted in a bloody nose. Breitzman was driving the car

and J.K. was seated in the passenger seat when Breitzman struck J.K. with the back of her hand. (R.71:87-88.) J.K. explained that he was singing a song that his kindergarten teacher taught him. Breitzman claimed she taught him the song. When J.K. disagreed, Breitzman struck him. (R.71:92.) In her testimony, Breitzman acknowledged striking J.K. with the back of her hand in the car. (R.72:81.) Breitzman admitted that she had slapped J.K. on other occasions when he had become defiant, but she could not recall the circumstances. (R.72:90.)

Breitzman claimed that J.K. had made up allegations about her for attention-seeking purposes. (R.73:32.) Further, she asserted that J.K. had started lying to her, talking back, becoming belligerent, and not telling her where he was within the past year. (R.72:83.)

The jury's verdict. The jury found Breitzman guilty on all counts. (R.75.)

II. The postconviction proceedings.

Breitzman moved for postconviction relief. She alleged that the State presented insufficient evidence to sustain the jury's verdict on the neglect charges and the disorderly conduct charge. She also claimed that her counsel was ineffective for: (1) failing to move to dismiss the disorderly conduct charge on First Amendment grounds; (2) failing to object to the admission of other act evidence; and (3) giving an opening statement that Breitzman claims contradicted her anticipated testimony. (R.53:1.)

Following an evidentiary hearing in which both Breitzman and her counsel testified (R.77), the circuit court granted Breitzman's motion for a judgment of acquittal on the charge of child neglect resulting in bodily harm (Count Three) on the ground of insufficient evidence. But it found the evidence sufficient to sustain Breitzman's conviction on the other child neglect charge (Count Four) and the disorderly conduct charge (Count Five) (R.62:1). The circuit court also denied Breitzman's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. (R.62:2.)

III. The court of appeals' decision.

On appeal, Breitzman challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to support her convictions for child neglect (the failure to provide shelter incident) and disorderly conduct. State v. Ginger M. Breitzman, Case No. 2015AP1610-CR, 2016 WL 4275591, ¶ 11 (Dist. I, Wis. Ct. App., August 16, 2016). The court of appeals found the evidence sufficient to sustain Breitzman's child neglect conviction. Id. ¶¶ 13-15. The court of appeals also found the evidence sufficient to sustain her conviction for disorderly conduct. It concluded that the State proved that Breitzman's conduct was profane and that it tended to cause or provoke a breach of the peace. Id. ¶¶ 16-18.

Breitzman also argued that her counsel was ineffective because (1) counsel should have moved to dismiss the disorderly conduct charge on the ground that the charge violated her right to free speech; (2) counsel failed to object to other acts evidence; and (3) counsel argued a theory of defense that contradicted her testimony. *Id.* ¶ 19. The court of appeals concluded that counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to dismiss the disorderly conduct charge. *Id.* ¶ 22. Second, it determined that counsel's decision not to object was a matter of trial strategy; therefore, counsel was not ineffective on this ground. *Id.* ¶ 23. Finally, the theory of defense reasonable parental discipline, was not contrary to Breitzman's testimony because the testimony that counsel elicited addressed these issues. *Id.* $\P\P$ 24-25.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Ineffective of counsel claims. A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. State v. Carter, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 19, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695. This Court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. "[T]he circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy" are considered findings of fact. State v. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, ¶ 38, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786. Whether counsel's performance was ineffective presents a legal question that this Court reviews independently, benefiting from the circuit court's and court of appeals' analysis. Id.

Constitutional challenges to a prosecution. Whether the First Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution prohibits the State from prosecuting Breitzman for disorderly conduct presents a legal question that this Court reviews independently. In re A.S., 2001 WI 48, ¶ 19, 243 Wis. 2d 173, 626 N.W.2d 712.²

² Breitzman suggests that because content-based restrictions on speech are presumed invalid, the State should bear the burden of showing their constitutionality. (Breitzman's Br. 15, citing *Ashcroft v. American Civil Liberties Union*, 542 U.S. 656, 660 (2004)). However, this standard does not apply to sec. 947.01(1), which, as this Court has determined, is "aimed at proscribing conduct" rather than "circumscribing the content of speech directly." *In re A.S.*, 2001 WI 48, ¶ 13, 243 Wis. 2d 173, 626 N.W.2d 712.

ARGUMENT

I. Breitzman's counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise a free speech challenge to the disorderly conduct charge because she has not demonstrated as a matter of settled law that she has a right to engage in profane conduct that tends to cause or provoke a disturbance.

A. General legal principles.

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel.

A criminal defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); State v. Sanchez, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 226-36, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996). A defendant alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel has the burden of proving both that counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. If the defendant fails to establish one prong of the test, the court need not address the other. Id. at 697.

To prove deficient performance, the defendant must show that his counsel's representation "fell below an objective of reasonableness" standard considering all the circumstances. Id. at 688. The defendant must demonstrate that specific acts or omissions of counsel fell "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." Id. at 690. To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must affirmatively prove that the alleged deficient performance prejudiced him. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. The defendant must show something more than that counsel's errors had a conceivable effect on the proceeding's outcome. Id. Rather, the defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that,

but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694.

Trial counsel can never be ineffective for declining to make an argument that controlling legal authority does not support. "[I]neffective assistance of counsel cases should be limited to situations where the law or duty is clear such that reasonable counsel should know enough to raise the issue." *State v. Lemberger*, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 33, __ Wis. 2d ___, __ N.W.2d __ (citations omitted). Thus, counsel's "failure to raise arguments that require the resolution of unsettled legal questions generally does not render a lawyer's services 'outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance' sufficient to satisfy the Sixth Amendment." *Id*. Counsel is simply "not required to object and argue a point of law that is unsettled." *State v. McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 84, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994).

2. The disorderly conduct statute and the First Amendment.

The present case raises two questions about Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1), the disorderly conduct statute. First, does the statute reach profane language spoken inside a private home? Second, does a disorderly-conduct charge based on such language violate the First Amendment?

The first question is easily answered. The statute prohibits a person, whether "in a public or private place," from engaging in "violent, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud or otherwise disorderly conduct under circumstances in which the conduct tends to cause or provoke a disturbance." Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1); *State v. Schwebke*, 2002 WI 55, ¶ 30, 253 Wis. 2d 1, 644 N.W.2d 666.

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